045
w/app

4-17
FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 25 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LESTER JOYNER, :
 :
 Petitioner, :
 :
 vs. :
 :
 STATE OF FLORIDA, :
 :
 Respondent. :
 _____ :

Case No. 79,565

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA
SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JENNIFER Y. FOGLE
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 628204

Public Defender's Office
Polk County Courthouse
P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD
Bartow, FL 33830
(813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, LESTER JOYNER, was the Appellant in the Second District Court of Appeal and the Defendant in the trial court. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the Appellee in the Second District Court of Appeal. The appendix to this brief contains a copy of the decision rendered by the Second District Court of Appeal on February 19, 1992.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 8, 1990, the State Attorney for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Hillsborough County, Florida, charged the Petitioner, LESTER JOYNER, with possession of cocaine in violation of Fla. Stat. § 893.13 (1)(f). On February 13, 1990, the trial court accepted Mr. Joyner's plea of nolo contendere and noticed and sentenced him to two years on community control as a "subsequent felony offender," concurrent with community control imposed in 1988 and 1989 violation of probation cases.

On May 23, 1990, the court revoked Mr. Joyner's community control on the charge of possession of cocaine and sentenced him to ten years in prison as a "subsequent felony offender." On December 12, 1990, Mr. Joyner filed a pro se petition for writ of habeas corpus, seeking a belated appeal of the judgment and sentence imposed on the charge of possession of cocaine. The Second District Court of Appeal granted Mr. Joyner's pro se motion on January 16, 1990.

On appeal Mr. Joyner asserted that his sentence of "habitualized community control" followed by a ten-year prison sentence upon revocation of community control constituted an illegal application of Fla. Stat. § 775.084 and Chapter 948, requiring his sentence to be vacated. On February 19, 1992, the appellate court affirmed Petitioner's judgment and sentence, holding that any error complained of was waived because there was no objection to the community control sentence when it was imposed and Mr. Joyner did not timely appeal that initial sentence. The holding conflicts

with decisions rendered by this Court and other District Courts of Appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Joyner argues that the Second District Court of Appeal's decision holding that the contemporaneous objection rule is applicable to a sentence of "habitualized community control" and waives right to attack the sentence, expressly and directly conflicts with holdings of this Court and other District Courts of Appeal. If the contemporaneous objection rule is inapplicable, a theory which the Second District Court of Appeal has rejected, then resentencing is required.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE DECISION IN JOYNER v. STATE, CASE NO. 91-00419 (Fla. 2d DCA February 19, 1992), IS IN CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL AS TO WHETHER THE FAILURE TO OBJECT TO AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE CONSTITUTES A WAIVER OF THE RIGHT TO LATER ATTACK THE SENTENCE?

A defendant need not make a contemporaneous objection to later challenge an illegal sentence. Larson v. State, 572 So.2d 1368, 1370 (Fla. 1991) (contemporaneous objection not needed to challenge illegal condition of probation); State v. Whitfield, 487 So.2d 1045, 1047 (Fla. 1986) (contemporaneous objection rule not required to preserve review of trial court's failure to make mandatorily written, clear and convincing reasons for upward departure from sentence); State v. Rhoden, 448 So.2d 1013, 1016 (Fla. 1984) (where juvenile statute provides for findings of fact, in order to make effective right of sentence review, contemporaneous objection rule not applicable). See also, the habitual offender statute, section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1989), providing for specific evidentiary findings and the right of appellate review.

An illegal sentence may be successfully challenged at any time. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800 (a). A defendant may not confer upon a trial court the authority to impose an illegal sentence merely by agreeing to the illegal sentence in plea negotiations and failing to object at sentencing. Clark v. State, 579 So.2d 109, 110-111

(Fla. 1991); Fuller v. State, 578 So.2d 887, 889 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

Contrary to the foregoing principles, the Second District Court of Appeal in Lester Joyner v. State, Case No. 91-00419 (Fla. 2d DCA, February 19, 1992), relied on Wolfson v. State, 437 So.2d 174 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), in holding that Petitioner's acceptance of his sentence without contemporaneous objection constituted a waiver of his right to later attack the sentence. This decision is in conflict with the cited decisions of this court and other district courts of appeal. If contemporaneous objection is not required, then Petitioner has suffered a more severe sanction and denial of right to review because he is within the jurisdiction of the Second District Court of Appeal. This Court should accept jurisdiction in order to settle the conflict.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing reasons, argument, and authorities, Petitioner has demonstrated that conflict does exist with the instant decision and decisions of this Court so as to invoke discretionary review of this Honorable Court.