047

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE
MAY 26 1992
CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

LESTER JOYNER,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 79, 565

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT OF COURT OF APPEAL

## JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ELAINE L. THOMPSON
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 0816302
4000 HOLLYWOOD BLVD.
SUITE 505 SOUTH
HOLLYWOOD, FLORIDA 33021
(305) 985-4788

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE NO.

Table of Citationsii
Statement of the Case and Facts
Summary of Argument2
Argument
Issue: WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION BASED ON CONFLICT OF DECISIONS WHERE NO CONFLICT EXISTS
Conclusion8
Certificate of Service8

# TABLE OF CITATIONS

PAGE NO	<u>•</u>
FLORIDA CASES	
Bashlor v. State, 586 So. 2d 488 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)	
Burdick v. State, 17 F.L.W. (S)88 (Fla. February 6, 1992)5	
Hardee v. State, 534 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1988)4	
<u>Joyner v. State,</u> 17 F.L.W. (D)532 (Fla. 2d DCA February 19, 1992)4,5,7	
<u>King v. State,</u> 373 So. 2d 78 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979)3	
<u>King v. State,</u> 17 F.L.W. (D)662 (Fla. 2d DCA March 4, 1992)5	
McCloud v. State, 335 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 1976)3	
Poore v. State, 531 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1988)6	
Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986)4	
Sheffield v. State, 580 So. 2d 790 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)5	
Smith v. State, 529 So. 2d 1106 (Fla. 1988)5	
State v. Kendricks, 17 F.L.W. (D)812 (Fla. 5th DCA March 27, 1992)6, 7	
Thompson v. State, 17 F.L.W. (D)164 (Fla. 2d DCA January 3, 1992)	
Whitfield v. State, 187 So. 2d 1045 (Fla. 1986)	

williams v. State,
581 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1992)
Wright v. State,
510 So. 2d 1159 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Art. 5§ 3(b)(3), Florida Const
Section 948.001, Florida Statutes (1989)6
Section 948.01, Florida Statutes (1989)6
Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv)
Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.7905

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent submits the following additions and corrections to Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts. In all other respects, Respondent accepts the statement as submitted by Petitioner.

Petitioner did not prosecute an appeal from the judgment or community control sentence when it was imposed in February 23, 1990. After revocation of his community control, he prosecuted an appeal in the Second District Court of Appeal. Petitioner failed to include in the record on appeal a copy of any of the trial court proceedings which occurred prior to the sentencing following the revocation of his community control. The Second District Court of Appeal ruled that "His acceptance of community control constituted a waiver of the right to attack that community control at revocation." Joyner v. State, 17 F.L.W.

(D)532 (Fla. 2d DCA February 19, 1992).

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is clear from the cases that no conflict exists. Petitioner is dissatisfied with the District Court's ruling in a separate case wherein the court ruled that imposition of a sentence of community control after classification as a habitual offender does not constitute an illegal sentence. However the District Court did not rule on the legality of the same sentence in this case but ruled that the Petitioner had waived his right to challenge the sentence after revocation of community control. Since no conflict exists, this Court must decline to exercise jurisdiction.

### **ARGUMENT**

THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SINCE THERE ARE NO FACTS ON THE FACE OF THE OPINION WHICH CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF THIS COURT OR ANY OTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ON THE SAME ISSUE OF LAW.

Petitioner was quite content with the sentence he received when he initially entered his plea. He avoided a possible ten year prison term in exchange for a plea of guilty. He was only sentenced to community control although he was a habitual offender. After revocation of that community control, Petitioner prosecuted an appeal. Petitioner alleged in the Second District Court of Appeal that once he was habitualized, he was no longer eligible for community control because the habitual offender statute and probation statute has mutually exclusive purposes. If that contention is correct, Petitioner has fully enjoyed the benefits of a sentence which erred in his favor since he should have been sentenced to an extended term as a habitual offender. Petitioner is in no position to complain about a lesser sentence. See generally, McCloud v. State, 335 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 1976).

Moreover, Petitioner waived his right to object after revocation of community control because he bargained for, benefitted from and accepted the original sentence. See <u>Bashlor v. State</u>, 586 So. 2d 488 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); and <u>King v. State</u>, 373 So. 2d 78 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979). In <u>King</u>, the court ruled that a defendant is estopped from challenging his conditions of probation after having enjoyed the benefits of that probation.

Petitioner cannot cite to any case which conflicts with the District Court's ruling that he waived his right to complain about the sentence by failing to file an appeal from the initial sentence. The policy reasons for estopping a defendant from attacking a probation sentence after revocation of probation are applicable to this case. It discourages defendants from intentionally entering into allegedly illegal sentences and having that same sentence declared illegal after violating its terms. This court should not allow defendants to manipulate the sentencing court in such a manner. Furthermore, since Petitioner was subject to the same sentence during his initial sentencing which he received upon revocation of community control, he has not been harmed by the allegedly illegal sentence. See Wright v. State, 510 So. 2d 1159 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987)(defendant cannot be harmed by error from which he benefitted).

For purposes of determining conflict jurisdiction, the Court is limited to the facts which appear on the face of the opinion.

Hardee v. State, 534 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1988). In order to find conflict between the decisions cited by Petitioner and Joyner, infra, it would be necessary for this Court to review the record in order to resolve the disagreement in Petitioner's favor. Such action would be improper. Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986). Although the court in Joyner v. State, 17 F.L.W. (D)532 (Fla. 2d DCA February 19, 1992), could have addressed the legality of the sentence, nowhere in the four corners of the decision does the court rule on that issue. In fact, the court specifically declined to address that argument:

we need not and do not address the defendant's argument that he should not have been sentenced to community control after having been declared a habitual offender.

## Joyner, supra.

No decision by this Court or any other district court of appeal that has held that sentencing a defendant to community control after classifying the defendant as a habitual offender constitutes an illegal sentence. Moreover, in King v. State, 17 F.L.W. (D)662 (Fla. 2d DCA March 4, 1992), the court held that the imposition of community control after classifying the defendant as a habitual offender is not inherently or per se illegal. See also, Burdick v. State, 17 F.L.W. (S)88 (Fla. February 6, 1992); Williams v. State, 581 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1991); Sheffield v. State, 580 So. 2d 790 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (court rejected state's appeal wherein the state argued that once a defendant is habitualized, sentencing as such is mandatory); and Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.790. Although King, 17 F.L.W. (D)662 (Fla. 2d DCA March 4, 1992), was not decided until after Joyner, supra, was issued, Petitioner cannot show that there is any decision which conflicts with King.

Furthermore, there is no law which precludes a defendant from entering into a plea agreement for a particular sentence which is less than what the trial court could impose if the defendant was found guilty of all charges. Smith v. State, 529 So. 2d 1106 (Fla. 1988) (We find no impropriety in allowing a defendant to negotiate a plea agreement that provides a

sentencing cap which is less than the statutory maximum in order to limit his exposure to jail time; once a plea agreement is negotiated which specifies the permissive sentence, the agreement is binding).

Respondent recognizes that <u>State v. Kendricks</u>, 17 F.L.W.

(D)812 (Fla. 5th DCA March 27, 1992), was issued after Petitioner filed his jurisdictional brief. However, <u>Kendricks</u> does not help Petitioner in his quest to demonstrate conflict. <u>Kendricks</u> dealt with probation; Petitioner was not placed on probation but was sentenced to community control. The <u>Kendricks</u> decision hinges on the well established law that probation is not a sentence but is a sentencing alternative in lieu of a sentence. <u>See</u>, <u>Kendricks</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 813 (probation was not a sentence at all but was a conditional limbo-like status during a period of time between a finding of criminal guilt and the imposition of a sentence, if a sentence was ever imposed. The placing of a defendant on probation is in lieu of a sentence). <u>See also</u>, <u>Poore v. State</u>, 531 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1988).

Conversely, there is no statute, rule, or case which holds that sentencing a defendant to community control is not a "sentence." Community control is a form of intensive, supervised "custody." § 948.001, Florida Statutes (1989). Additionally, section 948.01(10), Florida Statutes (1989), identifies the class of individuals for whom community control is impermissible. Petitioner's conviction does not fall within that class. Unless this court is prepared to conclude that community control is not a sentence, there can be no doubt that Petitioner was sentenced.

Since the court in <u>Kendricks</u> held that imposition of a sentence was mandated after finding a defendant to be a habitual offender and that probation is not a sentence, the rationale and holding in <u>Kendricks</u> are inapplicable to the facts of this case because the placing of a defendant on probation is distinctly different from sentencing a defendant to community control.

Accordingly, no conflict exists on any issue of law.

Respondent agrees that an illegal sentence can be corrected at any time. Since the imposition of community control following a classification as a habitual offender is not an illegal sentence, a contemporaneous objection or timely appeal was required. See, Whitfield v. State, 487 So. 2d 1045 (Fla. 1986); Thompson v. State, 17 F.L.W. (D)164 (Fla. 2d DCA January 3, 1992). Petitioner failed to object to or file an appeal from the initial sentence.

Petitioner cannot demonstrate that the decision in <u>Joyner</u> conflicts with any decision of this Court or another district court of appeal on the same issue of law. Accordingly, this Court lacks jurisdiction to review this case under Art. 58 3(b)(3) or Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, authorities and arguments, this Court must deny the petition for discretionary review.

> ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

FLA. BAR NO. 816302 4000 HOLLYWOOD BLVD.

SUITE 505 SOUTH

HOLLYWOOD, FLORIDA 33021

(305) 985-4780

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT